Immigrant Parents' Investments in Their Children's Post-Secondary Education

Published in 2008 by

The Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation

1000 Sherbrooke Street West, Suite 800, Montreal, QC, Canada H3A 3R2

Toll Free: 1–877–786–3999 Fax: (514) 985–5987

Web: www.millenniumscholarships.ca

E-mail: millennium.foundation@bm-ms.org

National Library of Canada Cataloguing in Publication

Robert Sweet (Lakehead University), Paul Anisef (York University), David Walters (University of Guelph) Immigrant Parents' Investments in Their Children's Post-Secondary Education Number 38

Includes bibliographical references.
ISSN 1704–8435 Millennium Research Series (Online)

Layout Design: Charlton + Company Design Group

The opinions expressed in this research document are those of the authors and do not represent official policies of the Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation and other agencies or organizations that may have provided support, financial or otherwise, for this project.

Immigrant Parents' Investments in Their Children's Post-Secondary Education

Prepared by:
Robert Sweet — Lakehead University
Paul Anisef — York University
David Walters — University of Guelph

The Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation

November 2008

Table of Contents

Abstract	1
Introduction	3
Background	5
Access to Canadian Universities and Colleges	
A Family Resource Approach	
Method and Results	13
Data and Sample	13
Comparison of Group Profiles	16
Factors Influencing Savings for Post-Secondary Education	19
Summary and Conclusions	23
Policy Possibilities	24
Future Research Directions	25
References	27
Appendix	35

Abstract

This paper examines relationships between the resources available to immigrant and non-immigrant families and the amount parents are willing and able to save for their children's post-secondary education (PSE). Recent studies indicate that there has been a significant decline in immigrant incomes over the past 20 years. In comparing immigrant and non-immigrant PSE savings, we specifically investigate whether higher levels of education among immigrants offset their reported lower incomes in predicting the amount they save.

PSE savings can be seen as part of a broader planning strategy undertaken by parents to mobilize the range of social, cultural and material resources needed to prepare their children for PSE. Activating these resources has been characterized as a form of "intensive parenting." Immigrant families with one foreign-born parent are assumed to have greater knowledge of and access to the relevant resources than do those with two foreign-born parents, and both groups are assumed to differ from non-immigrant families in this regard. The report explores whether these differences are reflected in PSE savings.

Our analysis uses selected social and situational factors, as well as parenting practices, to predict PSE

savings. While immigrant parents save more than non-immigrant parents, our results indicate that their PSE savings are not influenced by level of education. Rather, among those factors that determine saving levels, parents' PSE aspirations for their children are particularly salient. Immigrant parents display many of the behaviours associated with the intensive parenting model, which assigns a high value to PSE and requires the activation of resources needed to attain this goal. Their continued investments are contingent on their children's level of school engagement and achievement. Most immigrant children display the necessary levels of commitment to their studies, especially those in families where both parents are foreign born.

These results suggest that parents' investments in their children's educational futures are complex and vary by background and PSE purpose. Income and asset wealth constrain PSE savings in some immigrant families. However, despite obstacles to adjustment and settlement, immigrants share with non-immigrants a set of parenting beliefs and practices that lead them to allocate limited family resources to their children's educational futures.

Introduction

Immigrants to Canada typically value higher education, and most assume their children will attend a college or university (Krahn & Taylor, 2005). For many, however, the goal of post-secondary education (PSE) may not be achievable. The precipitous decline in immigrant earnings over the last two decades suggests significant modifications to family spending priorities and constraints on their capacity to save for their children's future education (Anisef & Phythian, 2005; Fleury, 2007; Picot, Hou & Coulombe, 2007; Li, 2003). When capable immigrant children cannot access the post-secondary system, both the individual and the society suffer a form of "talent loss" (Plank & Jordan, 2001). Perhaps more importantly, failure to realize PSE aspirations can lead to frustration with the educational system and its promise of social and economic mobility (Boyd & Kaida, 2006; Bonikowska, 2007).

While there is an established body of research on immigrant PSE aspirations, there is less understanding of how immigrant parents plan and prepare for their children's future education. Planning for PSE requires the systematic investment of a range of resources. Adequate financial support is of course essential in a time of rising tuition fees, and much of this financial responsibility falls to families. However, ensuring access to desirable university or college programs requires additional investments of emotional, cultural and social capital that encourage and support children's academic performance. Such forms of "soft" capital are generally recognized as essential complements to any financial contribution made toward children's PSE (Frenette, 2007; Sweet & Anisef, 2005). This kind of support also contributes directly to children's school performance and development of an interest in further education (Morrow, 1999; Looker & Thiessen, 2004).

Family income and parents' education are basic markers of socio-economic status (SES). Both influence parents' views of PSE, as well as shaping their ability to commit the required resources. Several studies have observed the negative effects of low income on children's PSE participation (de Broucker, 2005). However, this effect is offset by higher levels of parental education, presumably through the more effective mobilization of available family resources that better prepare their children for further education (Lareau, 2003). Many immigrant parents arrive in Canada with advanced levels of education, which have the potential to buffer the negative effects of reduced income. For example, well-educated immigrant parents who are familiar with the learning process and understand the culture of school are better able to facilitate their children's adjustment to the classroom. These parents also tend to be more aware of the various PSE financial aid and loan programs that can support their children's access to the post-secondary system (Lefebvre, 2004). While the possession and activation of cultural forms of capital may sustain PSE ambitions in their children and facilitate their entry to college or university, it will not fully resolve a shortfall in the family's economic resources without careful planning begun early in the child's school career and sustained over the K-12 period.

This study compares the antecedents and correlates of PSE savings in immigrant and non-immigrant families in order to better understand how these groups mobilize family resources. In our analysis, we pay particular attention to the configuration of income and education among families as indicators of their SES and predictors of parents' PSE saving behaviour. We also consider the specific means by which immigrant and non-immigrant parents activate resources that comprise various amounts and kinds of capital—not only financial but also cultural and social forms. Recognizing the contribution children can make to their own educational futures, we include achievement and engagement indicators that are likely to reinforce parents' commitment of family resources.

Background

Access to Canadian Universities and Colleges

Variation in parental support for PSE has been extensively examined in studies of the relationship between SES and enrolment in college or university programs (Canadian Council on Learning, 2006; Berger, Motte & Parkin, 2007; Mueller, 2007; Rounce, 2004; Tandem/ Council of Ministers of Education, Canada, 2007). Two indicators of SES are typically employed in these studies: family income and parental level of education. Most research conducted since 1990 indicates that PSE participation rates are lower for children from low-income families than they are for those from high-income families (de Broucker, 2005; Corak, Lipps & Zhao, 2003; Picot & Sweetman, 2005). Other studies draw different or more qualified conclusions about the effects of income, particularly on college attendance (Christophides, Cirello & Hoy, 2001; Raymond & Rivard, 2004). Several studies suggest parental education is more strongly correlated with PSE participation than is family income and may better indicate the possession of important additional forms of cultural and social capital (de Broucker & Lavallée, 1998; Drolet, 2005; Finnie, Laporte & Lascelles, 2004; Knighton & Mirza, 2002; Rahman, Situ & Jimmo, 2005).

More recent research indicates that PSE participation is dependent not only on parents' possession of material and non-material resources but also on the timely and effective activation of such resources. Parents must be willing to invest finite family resources in their children's education and do so early in the schooling process; children must reciprocate by adopting the goal of attending PSE and working toward it. In looking beyond established SES indicators, Finnie, Lascelles & Sweetman (2006) and Frenette (2007) found that PSE attendees came from families in which parents were highly involved in monitoring their studies and actively encouraged other forms of

school engagement. Other research on the role of non-monetary factors in PSE preparation similarly found parental involvement to be a salient factor in children's achievement and in the formation of PSE aspirations (Butlin, 1999). Moreover, the various investments made in these families were highly related. Savings intentions and behaviours were associated with parent-child interactions, parent-sponsored community engagement and parental home-school involvement. Children also act as agents in constructing PSE opportunities. Specific investments made by parents were responsive to children's positive attitudes and achievement, and this relationship grew stronger during adolescence (Thiessen & Looker, 2005).

In summarizing the research gaps on family support for children's PSE, Looker & Lowe (2001) argued that SES clearly influences PSE participation decisions, but the question of how its effects are distributed across other social structures—immigrant status in particular—has not been adequately explored. Nor has the nature and extent of parental investments been considered in sufficient detail. In concluding their more recent review, Berger & Motte (2007) called for the adoption of a life-long learning model that would reflect the developmental nature of children's preparation for PSE. Such an approach would also need to take into account the inter-related nature of parents' attempts to prepare their children for PSE. A conceptual framework that captures this complexity and is consistent with a developmental perspective may be found in the parent involvement literature.

A Family Resource Approach

Reviews of the parent involvement literature are extensive, varied and describe home-school relations in quite different jurisdictions, yet all document three recent trends in the home-school relationship: the growing belief by parents that PSE is essential for the

future well-being of their children; school reforms which require that parents ensure the academic readiness and receptivity of their children; and, finally, the insistence by governments that parents assume greater responsibility for financing their children's PSE (Hoover-Dempsey & Sandler, 1997; Deforges & Abouchaar, 2003; Steinberg, 1996).

In this context, casting parents in an educational role has been characterized as a form of "intensive parenting" that appears motivated by a concern that schools are increasingly competitive and that relative advantage must be sought in preparing children for PSE. The intensive approach views parents as specifically charged with planning their child's educational future, providing the necessary resources and overseeing the effective use of those resources. Assuming responsibility for the academic success of children is now widely regarded by the middle class as an essential addition to their already extensive list of parenting tasks (Dehli, 2004; Mandell & Sweet, 2004).

There are several descriptions of intensive parenting that derive from the work of French sociologist Pierre Bourdieu (1986). For the most part, these attempt to explain stratification processes in institutional settings such as schools, universities and colleges as resulting from parents' possession of resources ("cultural capital") that are tied to social class distinctions. Applications of Bourdieu's theory in North America describe family effects on children's schooling outcomes as a consequence of more conscious and agentic interventions by parents. Lareau (2003), for example, describes parents' involvement in their children's learning as a process of "concerted cultivation" in which parents closely manage their children's leisure time, advocate for their interests at school and work to instill the academic dispositions that facilitate adjustment and achievement in schools. Other sociocultural accounts of intensive parenting employ somewhat different terminology but are similar in conception and application—i.e., "active capital" (Looker, 1994), "extreme mothering" (Hays, 1996; Moses, 2006; Reay, 1998, 2000) and "helicopter parents" (Côté & Allahar, 2007).

Studies of parental effects in U.S. and Canadian schools are undergoing continued critiques and revision as more experience is gained with Bourdieu's theory in the North American context. This process involves questioning the nature of cultural capital—whether it has to involve contact with "high-brow" culture or whether parenting practices such as reading to children, monitoring their homework or enrolling them in summer camp are equally effective (Farkas, 2003; De Graaf, De Graaf & Kraaykaamp, 2000). There is also considerable debate regarding the extent to which parenting practices diverge along class lines (Lareau & Weininger, 2003; Dumais, 2005).

Intensive Parenting Practices

In their study of partnerships between parents and schools in Canada, Sweet, Mandell, Anisef & Adamuti-Trache (2007) identified three basic elements of the intensive parenting approach. The first concerns the set of beliefs parents hold about the purposes and practices of PSE and the value of a university or college credential. The second involves the nature of parents' communications with their children and the specific strategies they adopt to encourage their children's K–12 school success. The third refers to the willingness of children to share in their parents' PSE aspirations and make the necessary commitments to their own educational futures.

Parents' Beliefs

Parental beliefs comprise general views of the value of further education, specific PSE aspirations for their children and an understanding of how one gains access to and succeeds in the post-secondary system. Assessments of the value of a post-secondary degree are described in the COMPAS (2005) study which highlights differences between high- and low-SES parents. The former were inclined to view PSE in instrumental terms, while the latter tended to see the post-secondary experience as having some intrinsic merit. Other studies emphasize the various options among PSE pathways, again in terms of SES differences. Junor & Usher (2004), for example, note distinct differences in the family profiles of adolescents who aspire to a college diploma and those who wish to pursue a university degree.

Rising PSE aspirations across SES levels—from the lowest to the highest—are described by Davies (2005) as a "revolution in expectations." However, he doubts that all parents have adequately prepared their chil-

BACKGROUND 7

dren for PSE. Using 1999 Survey of Approaches to Educational Planning (SAEP) data, Davies notes that increasing numbers of low-SES parents expect their children will attend college despite a poor record of achievement or negative attitudes toward school. Côté & Allahar (2007) extend the argument of inadequate preparation (or motivation) to the current university student population, many of whom they see as disengaged from their studies and unaware of the benefits conferred by a degree beyond the purely instrumental. A more optimistic view of parent and adolescent planning for PSE is provided by Looker & Thiessen (2004) and Mandell & Sweet (2004), who found the majority of parents and their adolescent children engaged in discussions about future postsecondary studies. An emerging interest in the "firstgeneration" student has resulted in several studies that detail social class differences in parents' (and their children's) understanding of post-secondary culture as well as its more routine practices (Lehmann, 2007). Studies of parents' awareness of government student assistance programs designed to facilitate entry to PSE similarly find differences associated with SES (EKOS, 2006)

Recent research clearly indicates that immigrant parents have persuaded their children of the benefits of PSE participation. Using *Youth in Transition Survey* data, Krahn & Taylor (2005) found that the majority of 15-year-old immigrants in Canadian schools expected to attend university, indicating that many PSE planning decisions and preparations had already been taken within their families. Sweet (2005) similarly found that among immigrant 13- and 16-year-old respondents to the 2001 School Achievement Indicators Program survey, virtually all had a clear sense of how their high school mathematics courses were linked to future post-secondary plans and occupations.

Parents' Involvement

The second intensive parenting element refers to specific parenting behaviours designed to transmit important values and dispositions and to access the range of resources available to family members. Parental involvement, in other words, includes both style and strategy.

Parent-child relations as discussed by Lareau (2003) and others can be seen as expressing a form of "authoritative parenting style" that sets out goals and expectations while at the same time promoting adolescent autonomy (Okagaki, 2001). The latter is especially important during the adolescent years as children attempt to establish their own identity (Barber, 1997; Pomerantz, Moorman & Litwack, 2007). The emotional relationship established between parent and child forms the link through which important values are initially transmitted and, during the adolescent years, further reinforced and elaborated. These include aspirations for further learning and expectations for effort and achievement.

The literature on parenting style and SES is extensive, and many studies have explored the effects of style on children's school adjustment and achievement. Most of this research has focussed on the authoritative style in order to better understand its potential effects on children's development. While there is strong support for a positive relationship between the authoritative style and achievement, this does not extend to all ethnic or cultural groups. Pong, Hao & Gardner (2005), for example, review literature that indicates achievement among East Asian youth is not associated with this style of parenting. And although style and SES are assumed to be related in most accounts of parenting found in the literature, the strength of the relationship has been questioned in some studies, at least for pre-adolescents (Chao & Willms, 2000).

In examining the role of family resources in educational planning, it is necessary to distinguish between parenting styles and strategies (Spera, 2005). Parents' involvement in their children's learning is directed, for the most part, at promoting engagement with school activities. Engagement involves strategies designed to complement the work of teachers. In the first instance, this requires encouraging different forms of academic engagement, such as studying, homework and leisure reading. Few parents attempt to teach their children directly. In fact, most parents of high school children do not have the curricular knowledge to help directly with homework assignments and instead assume a monitoring and time-management role (Canadian Council on Learning, 2008). Parents are also very involved in promoting their children's social engagement. Most do this by encouraging extra-curricular activities in the school and enrolling their children in community-based programs that develop skills, such as sports teams, social clubs or those which involve cultural activities (Audas & Willms, 2001). Parents thus promote children's educational achievement only indirectly. By encouraging children's school and community engagement, they create a context and climate in which children are more likely to adopt the dispositions and acquire the competencies that underlie academic success.

The perception that very high levels of achievement throughout the K–12 years are necessary for PSE access has given rise to the intensive parenting phenomenon. The family stresses associated with particular intensive parenting practices have led many to question the advisability of school reforms and policies that require extensive parental involvement. Making parents responsible for study time and homework completion is the focus for much of this criticism (Kralovec & Buell, 2000). A similar debate attends parents' decisions to seek additional professional tutoring to improve their children's level of achievement (Davies, 2004).

Most immigrant parents are eager for their children to continue their studies beyond high school. In fact, nearly all want their children to attend university (Krahn & Taylor, 2005; Sweet, 2005). The very high PSE aspirations of immigrants are seen as expressions of "newcomer optimism" (Kao & Tienda, 1995; Louie, 2001). Immigrants come to countries like Canada convinced they can find educational opportunities for their children that will lead to economic well-being and social mobility (Anisef et al., 2000; Hatton & Bacic, 2001; Hiebert, 1998).

School-related stresses are undoubtedly present in immigrant families, and many of these result from frequently reiterated PSE aspirations and demands for high levels of achievement (Côté & Allahar, 2007, p. 228; Dyson, 2001; Li, 2003). Whether immigrant optimism is enacted in the same way as the intensive parenting approach of Canadian-born parents depends on immigrants' possession of relevant material and human capital. It also requires having the opportunity to effectively mobilize those resources (Marks, 2005). Parents' level of education likely will influence how PSE aspirations are pursued by family members.

Because of its rigorous immigrant selection system, Canada admits many highly educated immigrants. The literature suggests that those immigrant parents with post-secondary experiences value education, understand the processes of learning and possess important practical knowledge of how school systems work. While the specific dynamics of Canadian classrooms may not always be well understood by immigrant parents from markedly different cultures, many of the attributes of the successful learner are similar across cultures (Bonikowska, 2007; Sweet, 2005).

Research on educational planning in Canadian immigrant families is limited. However, some recent comparative research has observed similarities (and some differences) in immigrant and native-born approaches to parenting, as well as their effects on children's school engagement and achievement (Dinovitzer, Hagan & Parker, 2003; Sweet, 2005). Kwak (2003) has observed that parent-child relations can differ along cultural lines. Notions of obligation and entitlement held by adolescents, for example, vary among the ethnically different groups that comprise recent immigrant cohorts, and these are expressed in high levels of commitment and attention to school tasks such as homework.

Parents' Savings

Individuals finance their PSE from many sources (Hemingway & McMullen, 2004). Ouellette (2006) used data from the 2002 Post-Secondary Education Participation Survey (PEPS) to track the different means used by 18- to 24-year-old students to pay their tuition and associated costs. She found that earnings and government-sponsored loans, respectively, made up 26 percent and 20 percent of the total, while personal savings and non-repayable money from parents or other family members comprised some 47 percent of the total. In discussing the financial dependence of most undergraduates, Côté & Allahar (2007) refer to parents of university students as "the Bank of Mom and Dad." Parents of PSE students make significant monetary investments in their children's education in various ways and often over an extended period of time. In the K-12 years, they buy school supplies and pay fees for field trips, and somewhat over half of them attempt to save for their BACKGROUND

children's university or college expenses (Junor & Usher, 2004).

While studies of PSE participation are well established, there are fewer studies of PSE savings. The established research on savings has focussed on two areas—structural explanations and parents' PSE aspirations—and most studies have been descriptive. More recent research includes several family process variables in an attempt to better explain savings status or savings amounts.

One of the more obvious structural factors is family income. Among the various sources of parental PSE savings, which include child tax credits, gifts and family allowance cheques, the most widely used source by far is employment income (EKOS, 2006). Level of income strongly influences the amount saved. Statistics Canada (2001) found that less than one-fifth of families with incomes of less than \$30,000 have savings for their children's PSE, while about two-thirds of those with more than \$80,000 in income have PSE savings. Long-term saving is difficult for many low-income parents, whose spending priorities are determined by the more immediate needs of food, shelter, transportation and other essentials. Finnie, Laporte & Lascelles (2004) discuss these "credit constraints" that are frequently encountered by lowincome parents, especially when their children are young and they are less well established in their careers. Parents who can afford to save also modify their spending priorities, but in different ways. These individuals were found to spend less on vacations, pay off mortgages faster than originally planned, take on more overtime work, delay retirement or take on a second job (COMPAS, 2005).

Lefebvre (2004) points out that wealth levels are also important indicators of the capacity of families to save for their children's PSE. Among immigrants, wealth has been examined in relation to savings available upon landing and the rate at which wealth is accumulated after landing. There is considerable variation in the savings immigrants bring to Canada (Statistics Canada, 2005). Among immigrants entering Canada in 2000–01, the average savings for all immigrants was \$38,580, while the median savings was \$15,000. Savings differences are most pronounced across immigrant entry categories—the average savings

amount of the "other economic" class was \$165,110, while that of the refugee class was \$4,000. Gymiah, Walters & Phythian (2005) similarly found that home ownership in Toronto varied by ethnicity and immigrant status. National comparisons of foreign- and native-born individuals suggest that immigrant wealth levels are considerably lower, on average. Moreover, these differences persist over time. Shamsuddin and DeVoretz (1998), for example, found that immigrants to Canada had a wealth level that was approximately half that of similar Canadian-born households and required 15 years of settlement to match the Canadian average.

In Canada, parents' savings status varies across provinces (Junor & Usher, 2004). Saskatchewan and Manitoba had the highest proportion of children whose parents were saving, while Quebec had the lowest proportion. These savings differences reflect provincial policies. For example, Quebec's publicly funded CEGEP system significantly reduces costs to parents. The distance to a post-secondary institution also affects savings plans. Students who must live in residence incur much higher costs than those who live at home while attending PSE (Frenette, 2004).

Differences in the level of parents' PSE aspirations are important determinants of PSE savings. When parents begin saving and how much they save depends, in part, on whether their PSE goal is university or the considerably less expensive college pathway (Anisef, Sweet & Ng, 2004). The COMPAS (2005) study reveals that 77 percent of parents who expect children to pursue a university education have savings, compared to 59 percent of those who expect their children to attain a community college degree. These results are consistent with those of Shipley, Ouellette & Cartwright (2003), who found that parents' propensity to save increases with their level of educational aspirations.

With the publication of the 1999 and 2002 *SAEP* surveys, researchers have used the more detailed information provided by these data to describe parents' savings for their children's PSE. Anisef, Sweet & Ng (2004) used the 1999 *SAEP* data in comparing savings amounts of parents who expected their children would attend either a community college or a university. As expected, savings for college were less than those for university. The savings of each parent group

differed on several dimensions, including family income, which showed expected (and marked) differences in savings between the highest and lowest income categories, and parents' education, which showed a similar pattern—i.e., parents with a university degree saved considerably more than those with a high school education. Included in this study was a profile of ethnic differences. Nearly all ethnic subgroups exceeded the Canadian average of \$5,400.

Generally similar findings with regard to PSE aspirations and savings were found by Shipley, Ouellette & Cartwright (2003), who used the more recent 2002 SAEP data set. These authors detail the various antecedents and correlates of parental savings status and savings amounts. As expected, savers were more numerous and savings amounts greatest among parents with the highest incomes and levels of education. An important addition to previous descriptive studies was the inclusion of information on children. Savings were tied to the child's age and especially to their academic achievement. Parents' savings intentions and behaviours were also tied to whether or not the child was perceived to be making an effort in his or her studies—i.e., "working to potential." These findings prompted Shipley, Ouellette & Cartwright to emphasize the underlying associations among variables linked to parental savings.

Other analyses of the SAEP data have employed multivariate techniques to better explain differences in the savings status and savings amounts of parents. White, Marshall & Wood (2005) used the 1999 SAEP data to examine the relative effects on savings status of selected family structures and parents' stated expectations for their child's school performance. Savings status in this study was defined as those currently saving. Family income and parents' level of education remained significant in the final equation predicting savings status. Family organization (i.e., single- vs. two-parent family) was also strongly related to savings behaviour. Single-parent families saved significantly less money. However, the coefficient for parents' expectations remained significant even after controlling for the effect of the family structure variable.

Thiessen & Looker (2005) also used the 1999 *SAEP* data to study how parents with more than one child saved for their PSE. Consistent with findings from

U.S. research, they found that the larger the family, the lower the savings were for any individual child. However, most parents adhered to a principle of equity in allocating PSE savings among siblings. Thiessen & Looker found that several factors affected decisions about the timing and amount of money assigned to a particular child. Among the more salient reasons were children's age and how well they were doing in school. Those children who showed academic promise in high school were allocated more money than their younger siblings, although they too would be supported as they matured and if they proved academically able.

Using 2002 SAEP data, Lefebvre (2004) estimated the amount saved by parents based on structural factors, including: income and parents' educational attainment; children's achievement; and parents' PSE aspirations and involvement and interaction with children. Parents' awareness of government financial aid programs was also examined. In assessing the relationship between PSE saving and family wealth, Lefebvre found that both income and the possession of a mortgage-free house were significant predictors, controlling for other variables (at average values). Parents' educational level also remained significant in the full model. Of particular interest to the present study was the significant association between savings and parent involvement variables. Parents who were familiar with the government Canada Education Study Grant (CESG) program saved considerably more than those who were not aware of it. Children's school achievement also is a significant factor in influencing the amount their parents save: the estimated savings for those with A grades was \$5,500, while those with a B or C grade were estimated to receive \$4,600 and \$4,400, respectively.

To our knowledge, only two Canadian studies have included an immigrant status variable in the prediction of parents' PSE savings for their children. Milligan (2005) used the *Survey of Consumer Finance* to predict RESP savings from a model containing basic social structural and family composition variables. For immigrants (defined as those with at least one foreignborn parent), the proportion of RESP participants was higher then than it was for native-born individuals, although the average amounts saved were less. Similar to Lefebvre's (2004) results, Milligan found that family

BACKGROUND 11

income and parents' education predicted PSE savings wealth (i.e., income other than earnings). In conclusion, Milligan speculates that because neither a dearth of financial information nor a lack of investment sophistication (as indicated by RESP participation) was a barrier, unmeasured immigrant aspirations offer a more likely explanation of PSE savings for their children.

Bonikowska (2007) examined the trade-off between parents' pre-immigration levels of education and their willingness to save for their children's education. Using the 2002 Ethnic Diversity Survey, Bonikowska found that highly educated immigrant parents were more inclined to invest in their own education and training, which left less money available for their children's future education. In contrast, immigrant parents who possessed few educational credentials themselves held PSE aspirations for their children and worked to save for their educational futures. The fact that these parents were poorly educated themselves also meant their incomes were low. This pattern of low income/high savings rates reinforces the immigrant optimism thesis, as applied to the second generation. Certainly, it suggests that income may not be a particularly strong predictor of savings among immigrants, while at the same time foregrounding parental aspirations for their children's PSE as an essential motivation for investment.

Children's Investments

To be effective, parents' investments require a corresponding commitment from their children that is sustained well into adolescence (Steinberg, 1996). Children establish basic work habits in elementary school under the tutelage of teachers and with the encouragement of their parents (Farkas, 2003). After the transition to high school, adolescents are required to exercise personal autonomy in their studies. At this point, adolescents make choices with consequences that extend well into adulthood. These involve decisions about what courses to take, how much time to spend on homework assignments, when or whether to attend class and even whether to drop out of school. Clausen (1991) describes autonomy in terms of "planful competence," which involves an investment of effort in learning, a sense of academic self-confidence and the capacity to control impulses.

Research on all three dimensions of the planful competence construct is extensive and has identified several issues related to social structures, including low income, gender and ethnicity (Sweet et al., 2007). However, relatively few studies in Canada have considered immigrant children's school achievement or mobility from either a family resource or developmental perspective. Several empirical assessments of immigrant children's achievement do, however, exist, although none offer a clear picture of their academic achievement in the K–12 system. While most studies report that immigrant children and youth adapt readily to the Canadian classroom and achieve high marks in essential subjects, others add significant qualifications to these accounts.

Worswick (2004) compares the performance of immigrants' children in Canadian schools by analyzing data from the National Longitudinal Survey of Children and Youth covering the 1994-99 period. He finds that while children of immigrant families are more likely to start school with less developed reading, writing and mathematics skills than their native-born classmates, the gap between the two groups disappears before the end of elementary school. Worswick's research also shows that mother tongue has an impact on school performance in a child's early years. Children from immigrant families whose mother tongue is neither English nor French have lower performance on vocabulary and reading tests at early ages than do children of native-born parents. This performance gap disappeared by the age of 14. Moreover, no differences in performance levels on mathematics tests for children (aged seven to 14) from immigrant and native-born parents were identified. Overall, these results are consistent with other research that compared immigrant and non-immigrant groups (McMullen, 2004; Ma, 2003; Marks, 2005).

However, Gunderson (2007) found significant differences in achievement across different ethnocultural immigrant groups. Based on a sample of 5,000 ESL students enrolled in the Vancouver school system between 1991 and 2001, Gunderson found that Mandarin- and Cantonese-speaking high school students outperformed English-speaking Canadians in all subjects with the exception of Grade 12 English, while Indian-, Vietnamese-, Tagalog- and Spanish-

speaking students generally performed less well than their native-born counterparts.

Hansen & Kucera (2004) analyzed the education attainment of second-generation immigrants in Canada, as compared to native-born individuals, by using the Survey of Labour and Income Dynamics (SLID). They found that characteristics such as age, ethnicity, language skills, parental education and geographic location only explain some of the variance in attainment. Of particular interest was Hansen & Kucera's finding that the distinction between respondents with either one or two foreign-born parents made no difference in the prediction of their educational attainment. However, their sample comprised immigrants whose parents would be mainly of European descent. Dinovitzer, Hagan & Parker (2003) examined PSE aspirations as well as other similar psycho-social variables in predicting educational outcomes of immigrant children enrolled in the Toronto District School Board. Their results showed the effects of both personal factors (especially PSE aspirations) and situational factors in immigrant children's achievement and attainment. Like Hansen & Kucera's (2004) study, the composition of the immigrant sample was primarily European and therefore quite different from the ethnically diverse immigrant groups which today reside in Toronto.

Summary

In reviewing the PSE participation and parent involvement literatures, we described the investments parents make in their children's school performance as a form of "intensive parenting." Essentially, this approach to parenting comprises a set of beliefs about the contributions PSE can make to their children's futures and a range of complementary investments parents must make to ensure their children's access to either university or college. Implied in this commitment is an expectation of reciprocity from children in the form of high levels of academic engagement and achievement. These complementary investments are enacted differently across socio-economic levels. That is, differences in parents' incomes and educational attainment determine the availability of resources that affect children's PSE participation opportunities. SES also shapes the ability and willingness of parents to mobilize these resources in ways that benefit their children's learning.

Canadian parents' investments in their children's education may be usefully described in intensive parenting terms. It is, however, less certain that immigrant families plan and prepare for their children's PSE in exactly the same way. The varied cultural and social backgrounds of recent immigrants and their changed economic circumstances upon entry to Canada suggest that many immigrant families lack the resources needed to assist with their children's school adjustment or ensure their educational futures. Immigrant resiliency or optimism may, however, offer a variant of intensive parenting that exhibits similar characteristics—including strong PSE aspirations and a commitment to preparing their children academically.

Method and Results

Data and Sample

The data for this analysis are drawn from the public use file for the 2002 Survey of Approaches to Educational Planning (SAEP). The target population for the SAEP is children between the ages of 0 and 18 living in all ten provinces in Canada. Those living in Canada's territories and on Aboriginal reserves are excluded from the survey, as are full-time members of the armed forces and residents of institutions. The SAEP data were collected from the "person most knowledgeable" about the child, which in most instances was a parent. The response rate for the survey is 71.5 percent. It involved 10,788 respondents who provided personal, family, school and community information that related to a single child selected from their household. We excluded information on children who were never expected to attend school as a result of some physical, mental or emotional disability, as well as those under five years of age or not enrolled in Grades K (kindergarten) through 12 in the previous school year. This left a working sample of 5,580 respondents.

The 2002 SAEP survey includes a variety of questions relating to characteristics of children and their families, including questions about post-secondary aspirations and savings. In addition to key sociodemographic information, the survey also includes information relating to parental immigrant status, family structure, school achievement and performance, as well as questions focusing on parent-child interactions that can also be used as indicators of social capital.

Procedures and Variables

Our analysis continues previous work with the *SAEP* series that studied educational planning in families (Sweet & Anisef, 2005). However, the present study is closest in intent and design to Lefebvre's (2004) PSE general savings model, which also used the 2002 *SAEP*

data. Our analysis first compares the characteristics of immigrant families with one foreign-born parent, those with two foreign-born parents and non-immigrant families. The profiles of each group comprise: structural and situational variables that describe family context; the human and material resources available to families; the interactions parents initiate that serve to encourage children's commitment to school; and children's response in the form of school engagement and achievement indicators. We next attempt to model PSE savings as a function of the antecedents and correlates used in the comparison of group profiles.

The response variable is the total amount of savings accumulated by the parent for the child's PSE, including income and interest from any type of savings or financial education plan. Since the distribution of savings is positively skewed and non-negative, we employed a gamma distribution when fitting a generalized linear model to estimate total accumulated savings.¹

The design variable in this study distinguishes among respondents who have two immigrant parents, one immigrant parent or two native-born parents. Immigrant status is often undifferentiated in survey research, especially where comparisons are made with nativeborn "reference" groups (Krahn & Taylor, 2005; Milligan, 2002; Lefebvre, 2004). Such binary comparisons often result because sample sizes do not allow further distinctions to be made or surveys lack the additional cultural, social or situational information needed to characterize immigrant subgroups. In our analysis, parents' immigrant status is important, as we assume that cultural familiarity with the host country is greater in "blended" families and that this provides their children with advantages in accessing various forms of capital to be found not only in the home but in the community. This seems a reasonable assumption and of some importance given the culturally diverse nature of Canada's immigrant population (Bonikowska, 2007).

1. We also considered a Tobit model, which is specifically designed for censored data. However, we decided that the Tobit model is less practical for our application because of its latent variable orientation. For example, the Tobit model would assume that there is a latent propensity to acquire negative savings (see Breen, 1996). Moreover, the Tobit model assumes that the actual distribution of the response variable—in this instance, savings—can be modelled by a censored normal distribution. However, the distribution of savings is non-negative with a strong positive skew and more closely approximates a gamma distribution. Nevertheless, the substantive interpretations we make when estimating both models are nearly identical. Thus, we are confident that our findings are not dependent on our choice of statistical model.

Several of the other explanatory variables used in this analysis are similar to those employed in previous studies of educational planning that employed *SAEP* data (see Lefebvre, 2004; Shipley, Ouellette & Cartwright, 2003). Variables relating to socio-demographic characteristics include sex, region of residence, number of siblings and age. Two variables are employed to represent family structure. The first distinguishes between children living in dual- or single-parent families, and the second makes a distinction between households where the mother works or stays at home. Since language is a key issue in studies involving immigrants, we also include a variable which identifies whether the respondents speak an official language at home.

Variables relating to education, family income and housing tenure are employed as indicators of family SES. The parental education variable distinguishes respondents who have at least one parent with a university degree from those with no PSE experience or with some other type of PSE credential. The family income variable is derived from Statistics Canada and is based on income from all sources during the last 12 months, before taxes and deductions. It categorizes respondents as having low (<\$30,000), lowmiddle (\$30,000-\$49,999), high-middle (\$50,000-\$79,999) and high (\$80,000+) levels of family income.² The housing tenure variable distinguishes among families who own their home and are mortgage free, those who own their own home but have a mortgage, and those who rent.

Savings decisions are also likely influenced by factors relating to parents' knowledge of available savings opportunities and expectations regarding assistance with post-secondary financial planning. The *SAEP* includes questions regarding parents' awareness of savings incentive programs (i.e., CESG), their expectations of receiving grants or bursaries based on financial need and whether someone else has a savings plan for their child's PSE.

Several variables assumed to complement parents' PSE savings investments were included. Parents' savings behaviour, for example, is likely influenced by the post-secondary aspirations they hold for their children. In the *SAEP*, respondents were asked how far they "hoped" their child would go in school. The

responses to this question have been grouped into three categories: high school, university and other PSE (non-university). We differentiate PSE aspirations by level because the literature indicates that parents will save more if they anticipate their child will attend university rather than college. However, it is not clear how best to interpret PSE savings that are not tied to a specific PSE level. Some parents selected "high school" as an educational goal but nevertheless saved for their child's PSE. We can only assume that they anticipate the child will be involved in some form of PSE but have not yet defined a particular PSE pathway.

Three scaled variables were developed specifically for this analysis to represent different dimensions of parent-child interactions using a series of related questions available in *SAEP*. These variables are expected to influence savings on the grounds that parents who invest more time in their child's daily activities are also likely to invest more financially in their education.

The first scaled variable assesses parent-child relationships in relation to the completion of homework. It is derived from four questions. The first question assessed the number of times per week parents helped their child with homework (from 1=never to 4=four or more times a week). The second question asked parents how frequently they ensured their child would not be distracted when doing homework (1=never to 4=very often). The third question asked parents to estimate how much time is available for their child's leisure activities (1=never to 4=very often). For the last question, parents were asked to report the extent to which homework is a source of parent-child stress (1=never to 5=four or more times a week).

The second scaled variable is based on three questions that directly measure parent-child interactions. For the first question, parents were asked how often they praised their child's academic efforts (1=never to 4=very often). The second question estimates the amount of time parents spend interacting with their child (1=not at all to 5=more than 20 hours per week). The third question assesses the amount of time parents talk with the child about school activities (1=never to 5=four or more times a week).

The last scaled variable consists of questions reflecting the child's involvement in extracurricular

The family income variable in the public use dataset was already grouped into discrete categories by Statistics Canada. Thus, we were unable to treat it as a quantitative variable in this analysis.

METHOD AND RESULTS 15

activities. The first question asked parents to assess the amount of time their child participated in extracurricular school activities (1=never to 5=four or more times per week). The remaining four questions assessed the child's participation in non-school learning activities and in community-based activities such as sports, scouts and music lessons. The response metric for these questions is the same (1=never to 5=four or more times per week).

Parents' direct (monetary) investments in their child's academic performance were indicated by whether or not they engaged the services of a tutor. We are unable to determine the specific motivation for hiring a tutor. Recent immigrants may have sought language training, while parents in all groups may have sought remedial help for children who were struggling academically. Parents of competent students may have felt tutoring would "add value" to classroom instruction.

The variable indicating children's school achievement or performance is based on parents' knowledge of report card information. The savings behaviour of parents likely is influenced by whether they believe their child has the potential to successfully pursue a PSE credential.

Table 1 — Descriptive Statistics for Variables Used in the Analysis

Variable		Both Parents Immigrants Proportion / Mean	One Parent Immigrant Proportion / Mean	Native Born Proportion / Mean
Sex	Male	0.47	0.53	0.49
	Female	0.53	0.47	0.51
Number of	None	0.41	0.38	0.37
Siblings	One sibling	0.38	0.42	0.43
	Two or more siblings	0.21	0.19	0.19
Language Spoken	English or French	0.46	0.97	0.99
at Home ***	Other	0.54	0.03	0.01
Family Structure	Dual	0.85	0.82	0.82
	Single	0.15	0.18	0.18
Mother	Mother at home	0.23	0.15	0.17
Working ***	Mother works	0.77	0.85	0.83
Region ***	East	0.05	0.11	0.25
	Quebec	0.08	0.10	0.21
	Ontario	0.51	0.45	0.25
	West	0.36	0.34	0.29
Age	5–8	0.14	0.13	0.13
	9–12	0.31	0.33	0.31
	13–14	0.16	0.18	0.17
	15–16	0.17	0.18	0.19
	17–18	0.22	0.18	0.18
Parent Education ***	At least one parent with a university education	0.45	0.35	0.21
	No parent with a university education	0.55	0.65	0.79
Family Income **	Low	0.22	0.16	0.19
	Low medium	0.23	0.17	0.22
	High medium	0.29	0.34	0.30
	High	0.26	0.34	0.30

Continued on next page

Table 1 — Descriptive Statistics for Variables Used in the Analysis (continued)

Variable		Both Parents Immigrants Proportion / Mean	One Parent Immigrant Proportion / Mean	Native Born Proportion / Mean
Housing Tenure ***	Owns home with a mortgage	0.53	0.64	0.58
	Owns home without a mortgage	0.20	0.21	0.24
	Rents	0.27	0.15	0.19
Educational	High School	0.05	0.04	0.09
Aspirations ***	PSE (other)	0.16	0.25	0.33
	University	0.80	0.71	0.58
Expect to Receive	Yes	0.36	0.28	0.31
Grants **	No	0.38	0.49	0.44
	Maybe	0.26	0.22	0.25
Aware of the CESG program ***	Yes	0.51	0.49	0.44
	No	0.49	0.51	0.56
Others Have Savings Plan for Child ***	Yes	0.09	0.20	0.14
	No	0.91	0.80	0.86
School	< 70	0.11	0.19	0.18
Achievement (Grades) **	70–79 (B)	0.34	0.33	0.34
(Grades)	80–89 (A)	0.37	0.31	0.32
	90-100 (A+)	0.19	0.17	0.17
Child Received	Yes	0.17	0.18	0.14
Tutoring **	No	0.83	0.82	0.86
Parental Involveme	nt with Homework	11.93	12.16	12.13
Parental/Child Inter	action ***	10.23	10.99	10.81
Involvement in Extra	curricular Activities **	12.29	12.71	12.36
Savings		5627.00	6604.00	5064.00

Source: Survey of Approaches to Educational Planning

Comparison of Group Profiles

Table 1 provides descriptive profiles of the *SAEP* sample selected for the study. These comprise non-immigrant families and the two groups of immigrant families differentiated by whether one or both parents were foreign born. In addition to the basic comparison of group savings, the profiles are organized into three sets of variables: Social Structure and Situational Factors; Parental Beliefs and Behaviours; and Children's Commitment. Several statistically significant differences

among the groups exist and these are discussed in this section, although our primary interest is with the indicators of family SES, selected intensive parenting practices and, finally, the academic engagement and achievement of the child.

Savings

Looking first at the total savings amounts of the families included in the sample, those in which one parent is foreign born accumulate greater savings for their children (\$6,604) than do those in which both parents are foreign born (\$5,627). The latter group in turn save more for their child's PSE than do non-immigrant families

^{**} p < .01; *** p < .001; N: 2FB = 460; 1FB = 504; 0FB = 4,616; Total = 5,580

Significance tests for categorical variables are based on the Chi-square test.

The ANOVA F-test is used when comparing quantitative variables across categories.

METHOD AND RESULTS 17

(\$5,064). These values include both savers and non-savers from our research sample in the calculations. A more detailed description of the savings distributions of each group is given in the Appendix. While there are differences in the various measures of central tendency and dispersion shown in the Appendix, the relative positions of the groups as presented in Table 1 are retained.

Social Structure and Situational Factors

Immigrant families are less likely to speak one of Canada's official languages (English or French) at home, especially if both parents are immigrants. Among families with two foreign-born parents, only 46 percent speak one of the official languages at home, in comparison to 97 percent and 99 percent for families with one foreign-born parent and nonimmigrant families, respectively. The ability to speak another language can be viewed as an asset. However, for newly arrived children the lack of English or French in the home may be an impediment to establishing home-school links that are important to children's adjustment (Anisef & Kilbride, 2003). Also, to the extent that language signals cultural differences, these may play a role in adjusting to the Canadian classroom and school system (Gunderson, 2007).

The female parent is less likely to work (77 percent) if both parents are foreign born than she is if one parent is foreign born (85 percent) or if neither parent is an immigrant (83 percent). That fewer women from immigrant families are employed may have several causes, at least among those members of this group who have recently arrived in Canada. These include lack of familiarity with the Canadian workplace or differences in workplace skill levels, educational levels or language competence. For those mothers who are employed, time constraints have obvious implications for involvement in their children's schooling. However, most parents are adaptable in apportioning their time, especially when children are having difficulty in school (Mandell & Sweet, 2004; Sweet & Anisef, 2005).

In terms of region, children of immigrant families are more likely to live in Ontario and the Western provinces than are their native-born counterparts. This finding is not unexpected, as most immigrants to Canada choose to reside in larger urban centres such as Toronto and Vancouver.

Immigrant families are more likely to have at least one parent with a university education. For example, nearly half of families with two foreign-born parents (45 percent) report that at least one of the parents has a university education, compared to only 35 percent of families with one foreign-born parent. Only 21 percent of non-immigrant families report that at least one parent has a university education. Much of this difference in educational attainment among the groups can be explained by the immigrant selection system, which favours applicants with post-secondary credentials.

Families with two foreign-born parents report only marginally lower levels of income than those with two native-born parents, despite the fact that fewer spouses work in households with two foreign-born parents. The lack of a significant difference in income may result from the Canadian immigration selection system favouring principal applicants with advanced education credentials that command higher wages in Canada. Income differences are confined to the highest income category, where 26 percent of immigrant families and 30 percent of the non-immigrant group are located. In the remaining categories, these groups are quite comparable. Among families with one immigrant parent, there are fewer low-income individuals and considerably more in the high-income categories than in either of the other groups. While immigrant families report lower overall income levels, the differences among the lowest income parents in this sample are not as marked as those reported in the literature. This may be due to sampling differences. Previous studies typically have employed samples that are representative of all immigrants—which necessarily include families with pre-school children and those without any children.

Families consisting of two foreign-born parents are less likely to own their homes and be mortgage free or to own their homes and have mortgages than are families with one foreign-born parent or non-immigrant families. Approximately 27 percent of families with two foreign-born parents are renters, compared with 19 percent of non-immigrant families and 15 percent of families with one foreign-born parent. It should be noted that while earnings are typically employed as an indicator of wealth, fixed assets are, in many ways, a better indicator of disposable income—and, consequently, the rate and amount of PSE savings (Shamsuddin & DeVoretz, 1998).

Parents' Beliefs and Behaviours

There are significant differences across the three groups in terms of the post-secondary aspirations they hold for their children. Families with two foreign-born parents are most likely to expect their child to attend university (80 percent), followed by families with one foreign-born parent (71 percent). Some 58 percent of non-immigrant families expect their child to attend university. However, the latter group is more likely to prefer a community college education or trades training for their children-33 percent versus 25 percent or less among parents in the other two groups. Aspirations are not only essential motivators for parental investing in children's education. They also represent most parents' view of the Canadian PSE system as hierarchical (Davies & Hammack, 2004). This is especially true for immigrant parents, who typically see a university degree as promising access to the professions, with their higher status and incomes (Krahn & Taylor, 2005; Dyson, 2001; Anisef et al., 2003).

On the whole, there are no significant differences between immigrant and non-immigrant families in relation to the parental involvement variables. The only exception is for the variable relating to interactions between parents and their child. Parents interact with their child more frequently if one of the parents is foreign born than they do if neither parent is an immigrant. This may follow from the latter's rather high PSE aspirations and the relatively modest academic performance of their children. While virtually indistinguishable from the achievement levels of non-immigrant children, their level of achievement is less than that of children from families in which both parents are foreign born. Parent-child interactions are least frequent if both parents are immigrants. These parents presumably see their children as sufficiently committed to their studies or, where this is not the case, they may not feel able to motivate the child themselves or work with the teacher to do so (Weininger & Lareau, 2003; Anisef & Kilbride, 2003).

Immigrant parents are also more likely to hire tutors for their children than are non-immigrant parents. Whereas 18 percent of school-aged children raised in families with one foreign-born parent and 17 percent in those with two foreign-born parents received tutoring outside the school, only 14 percent of

children raised by two native-born parents had a tutor. Parents hire tutors for various reasons. For some, tutoring is a means of remediation, while for others tutors are hired to improve children's already high levels of achievement. In the case of immigrant children for whom English or French may not be their first language, tutoring may be applied to developing language skills.

There were several significant financial planning factors. These relate to an awareness of opportunities to form partnerships with government institutions or individuals in order to enhance the ability of parents to finance their children's education. Respondents in families with two foreign-born parents are more likely to expect that their child will receive grants or bursaries based on financial need (36 percent) than are respondents in non-immigrant households (31 percent) or households with one foreign-born parent (28 percent). Furthermore, immigrant parents are generally somewhat more knowledgeable about savings opportunities for their children. For example, about half of the respondents in immigrant families indicated that they were aware of the CESG program, compared to 44 percent of respondents in nonimmigrant families.

Only nine percent of children with two foreignborn parents have someone else saving for their PSE, in comparison with 20 percent of children of non-immigrant parents and 14 percent of children who have one foreign-born parent. Where both parents are immigrants, they are presumably less settled and have fewer family or community connections and are therefore less likely to have someone else contributing to a financial plan for their child's PSE.

Children's Commitment

Children raised in families with two foreign-born parents appear to perform better in school than do children raised either in non-immigrant families or families where only one parent is foreign born. The *SAEP* data provide teacher-assigned grades. These comparisons are consistent with standardized test results which show that immigrant children do as well overall as non-immigrant children (Marks, 2005; Worswick, 2004). This applies to children from families with one or two foreign-born parents. In

METHOD AND RESULTS

fact, those from families in which both parents are foreign born do somewhat better.

There are no significant savings differences between groups in relation to social engagement. To the extent that social adaptation at school correlates with parents' savings, this is an important finding in that it suggests immigrant children are successfully integrating with the social life of the school and, like their non-immigrant classmates, are developing important social skills. Audas & Willms (2001), for example, suggest that social skills are important not only because they are associated with academic engagement but also because they are themselves valued outcomes. For the immigrant child (first or second generation) being accepted socially at school is essential to academic adjustment (Gunderson, 2007).

Factors Influencing Savings for Post-Secondary Education

In this section, we attempt to estimate savings for each of the variables in a model of savings that includes selected structural, situational and personal predictors of PSE saving. The regression results are reported in Table 2.^{3, 4} Variables discussed are those that remained significant predictors of savings when all other variables in the equation were held constant (at average values).

As expected, there are significant savings differences by region. Notably, those who live in Quebec save, on average, about \$1,000 less than their counterparts living in other regions of the country.

Table 2 — Amount Saved by Savings Characteristics

		Gamma Model Expected Value of Savings T	
All Children		5,108	
Sex	Female	4,827	
	Male	5,395	
Number of Siblings	None	5,871	
	One sibling	4,528	**
	Two or more siblings	4,129	**
Language Spoken at Home	English or French	5,106	
	Other	5,136	
Family Structure	Dual	5,207	
	Single	4,672	
Mother Working	Mother at home	5,053	
	Mother works	5,119	
Region	East	4,902	
	Quebec	4,024	*
	Ontario	5,738	
	West	5,730	
Age	0–4	-	
	5–8	4,378	
	9–12	5,211	
	13–14	5,743	
	15–16	7,124	***
	17–18	6,217	

Continued on next page

The three scaled variables are included in the regression models as quantitative predictors of savings. The other variables used in this analysis, including the conceptually continuous variables (e.g., age and academic performance), are treated as categorical to reflect the discrete nature of the variables and the limited number of categories.

The estimates are converted into earnings by taking the inverse of the link function while holding the other variables constant at typical values (means are used for quantitative predictors, whereas proportions are used for categorical predictors).

Table 2 — Amount Saved by Savings Characteristics (continued)

		Gamma Model Expected Value of Savings τ	
Family Income	Low	2,618	
	Low medium	4,292	***
	High medium	5,660	***
	High	10,963	***
Housing Tenure	Owns home with a mortgage	4,813	
	Owns home without a mortgage	9,052	***
	Rents	3,530	***
Educational Aspirations	High school	2,840	
	PSE (other)	5,352	***
	University	5,395	***
Expect to Receive Grants	Yes	3,923	
	No	6,670	***
	Maybe	6,027	**
Aware of CESG program	Yes	6,311	
	No	4,295	***
Others Have Savings Plans for Child	Yes	6,614	
	No	4,895	***
Interaction: Parent Immigrant Status & Parent Education	Both parents immigrants & one parent university educated	5,174	
	One parent immigrant & one parent university educated	5,144	
	Non-immigrants & one parent university educated	5,981	**
	Both parents immigrants & neither parent university educated	4,935	
	One parent immigrant & neither parent university educated	6,573	**
	Non-immigrants & neither parent university educated	4,742	
School Achievement (Grades)	< 70	3,944	
	70–79 (B)	5,668	
	80–89 (A)	6,653	***
	90-100 (A+)	7,469	***
Child Received Tutoring	Yes	6,132	
-	No	4,950	**
Parental Involvement with Home	work (4–19) ττ	109	*
Parental/Child Interaction (3–13)	ττ	108	
Involvement in Extracurricular Activities (5–25) τ τ		185	***

Source: Survey of Approaches to Educational Planning (N = 5,580)

Significance tests for categorical variables are based on comparisons with the reference category (indicated in italics).

T Savings are conditional on the average values of the explanatory variables.

T T Estimate represents the expected change in savings for a unit increase in the explanatory variable, conditional on the average values of all the explanatory variables.

* p < .05; ** p < .01; *** p < .001

METHOD AND RESULTS 21

The age of a child has a strong impact on predicted parental savings. For example, parents with children aged five to eight have estimated accumulations of \$4,378 in PSE savings, in comparison with the approximately \$7,124 predicted for parents with children aged 15 to 16. The sudden increase in savings at this age indicates that the decision to enroll in a college or university has been taken and parents realize that significant increases in contributions to their PSE savings fund are required. This is also consistent with Thiessen & Looker's (2005) finding that in families with more than one child, parental savings were allocated to each child as he or she approached high school completion. However, in our analysis, where savings were estimated after controlling for age, it appears this allocation strategy is not adequate.

The presence of siblings has a significant impact on parental savings. A child without any siblings accumulates approximately \$1,300 more in savings than a child with one sibling and approximately \$1,700 more than a child with two or more siblings. As previously indicated, this pattern of savings indicates the difficulties parents have in allocating family resources among siblings.

Family income exerts a significant impact on parents' accumulated savings for their child's PSE. Among all respondents, parents in the low income category—i.e., those who report a yearly family income of less than \$30,000—have accumulated a total of \$2,618 for their child's PSE fund. They are expected to save approximately \$8,000 less than do parents with a family income that is greater than \$80,000.

Home ownership is another indicator of parental SES that has a substantial impact on parental savings. Parents who are mortgage-free are able to save approximately \$4,200 more than parents who have a mortgage and approximately \$5,500 more than parents who rent.

Given that families with immigrant parents generally save more for their child's PSE than non-immigrant families, an essential question is whether the savings in immigrant families depend on parental education, after controlling for income, home ownership and other variables in the model. Specifically, we examine whether the relationship between the immigrant

status of parents and their savings is influenced by whether at least one parent has a university education. The results suggest that having such a parent has a positive impact on savings only for children raised in non-immigrant families. A child with non-immigrant parents will receive \$1,200 more in post-secondary savings if at least one parent has a PSE. However, the savings of children raised by two foreign-born parents does not depend on whether one parent has a university education, and children raised in families with one foreign-born parent actually receive less in savings if at least one parent has a university education. Thus, access to cultural capital that is presumed to be associated with having at least one highly educated parent only has a positive impact on expected savings for families with native-born parents. It does not have the expected benefit for children in immigrant families. Bonikowska (2007) reports a similar, if more delimited, finding in her study of educational spending in immigrant families. She found that immigrant parents with low educational attainment typically saved more than did those with higher levels of education because the latter also invested in their own education and training.

The educational aspirations that parents hold for their children significantly influence their savings behaviour. For example, parents who expect their child to attend university have accumulated approximately \$5,400 in savings for their child's PSE; this is roughly equivalent to the amount saved by parents who expect their child to attend some other post-secondary institution and some \$1,600 more than the amount saved by parents who expect their child to complete high school. Savings by the latter group can be interpreted as based on an expectation that the child will, in fact, pursue some form of PSE but neither the parent nor the child have specified the particular post-high school pathway. PSE has been characterized as a "hierarchy" of prestige and costs that ranks university before college and both as more desirable than other forms of technical trades training (Schuetze & Sweet, 2003). However, our results suggest that parental PSE savings are influenced more by clarity of purpose than PSE level.

Also consistent with findings from previous research, the savings behaviour of parents is strongly influenced by their expectations of financial assistance and by their knowledge of savings opportunities (Lefebvre, 2004). For example, parents who do not expect to receive grants or bursaries for their child's PSE save about \$2,700 more for their child's education fund than do parents who anticipate receiving some form of subsidy for their child's post-secondary schooling. Whether parents are aware of the CESG program has a substantial impact on how much they save for their child's schooling. Parents who are aware of the program save nearly \$2,000 more than do parents who are unaware of it. Parents save more for their child's PSE if someone else also contributes to the plan. Specifically, this group accumulates approximately \$1,700 more in savings.

Parental involvement in homework help and monitoring is associated with greater savings for their child's PSE. Hiring a tutor represents an additional investment some parents make to enhance their child's school performance. Those who engage the services of a private tutor save \$1,100 more for their child's post-secondary schooling than do other parents. The amount of time parents spend interacting with their children represents yet another form of parental investment, although, in the model, this factor was

not related to how much parents saved. Nevertheless, the generally positive relationship between parental involvement factors and savings suggests the inter-related nature of parents' investment.

Among the more salient influences on parental savings is the perception of how well their children are doing in school. Academic achievement is clearly an important indicator of the child's eligibility for PSE. Children with a C average (less than 70 percent) receive approximately \$4,000 in accumulated savings from their parents, while those with a B average receive approximately \$5,700. Children with an A average (80 percent to 89 percent) acquire more than \$6,600 in accumulated savings, and children with an A+ average (90 percent and higher) have nearly \$7,500 in parental savings. Children's social engagement also influences parents' savings behaviour. The amount of time that children are involved in extra-curricular activities is positively related to the expected amount of educational savings accumulated by their parents.

Summary and Conclusions

In this study we examined the possibility that immigrant children may be excluded from participating in PSE by a lack of family resources. Specifically, we were responding to evidence of a serious decline in the earnings of immigrants over the previous two decades and its potential impact on the ability of immigrant parents to fund their children's PSE. There are, of course, various ways to finance PSE, but parental savings are among the most important. To the extent that low income limits immigrant parents' ability to save, their children's opportunities to participate in PSE are correspondingly limited.

Our analysis indicates that immigrant families with one foreign-born parent saved significantly more than immigrant families with two foreign-born parents and that both immigrant groups amassed greater savings than families with native-born parents. Of particular note is the relatively close association of income and home ownership with PSE savings. Among the sample of parents of school-age children employed in this analysis—which excludes some 25 percent of the SAEP total—differences in income were less than anticipated. The proportion of low-income families among native-born households was similar to that among immigrant families with two foreign-born parents. As well, families with only one foreign-born parent have, overall, relatively high levels of earnings and asset wealth.

In addition to PSE savings, parents make additional investments through the K–12 years to prepare their children for the intellectual, emotional and social demands of the PSE system. These investments are complex, inter-related and, viewed collectively, have been described as a form of "intensive parenting." The obligations of intensive parenting are extensive, and differences in the effectiveness with which parents undertake this task have been described in the literature with reference to SES, typically indicated by parents' income and educational attainment. Given that immigrant parents tend to be more highly educated than their native-born counterparts, we assessed

the effects of parents' education on savings across immigrant and non-immigrant groups. Savings were estimated in a model that controlled for income and other variables assumed to be related to savings. Under these conditions, our results show that parents' education does not influence the level of immigrant savings. Additionally, these results indicate that immigrant status does *not* distinguish differences in savings after discounting the effects of family wealth, parenting practices and children's achievement. In short, the PSE savings of immigrant and non-immigrant parents are shaped by the same factors.

The regression analysis identified several significant predictors of PSE savings that together describe the basis for savings in families of school-age children. These include indicators of family SES, a range of parenting practices including financial planning considerations, and evidence of children's engagement and achievement. Although immigrant status was not a significant determinant of savings, immigrant families, especially those in which both parents are foreign born, are differently positioned with respect to many of the correlates of saving. Some comments on specific relationships among variables that describe the situation of immigrant parents follow.

SES and Aspirations

The immigrant groups in our analysis vary in their level of parental education but in neither case does this measure of SES influence savings to the extent it does in the non-immigrant group. Parents' education in the latter group indicates access to useful forms of cultural capital. Among immigrant families, however, strongly held PSE aspirations and the ability to encourage children's engagement with their studies appear to be the prime motivators underlying savings. The PSE pathway preferred by most immigrants is university, especially where both parents are foreign born. This is a well-established preference among immigrants generally (Anisef et al., 2000; Krahn & Taylor, 2005). University is, of course, the

most expensive and academically demanding of the available PSE options and consequently requires the greatest investment of family resources.

Intensive Parenting and Savings Strategies

Immigrant families appear to be as involved in their children's growth and development as are nonimmigrant families. They thus seem to have adopted the educational role for parents that we have characterized as intensive parenting. Certainly, they have taken responsibility for that aspect of parenting which involves planning and preparing for PSE. For example, with regard to the implementation of PSE savings plans, immigrant parents seem very aware of the opportunities available in government-sponsored programs like the CESG and Canada Student Loans Program. Kapsalis (2006) has noted the greater uptake of student loans by immigrant youth. Relatively low-cost loans may complement parents' savings efforts and thus be part of a larger financial scheme. It could equally well reflect the inability of their parents to save or the necessity to invest in their own job-related education and training. In our analysis, financial constraints would more likely affect immigrant families in which both parents were foreign born, as it is among this group that we find greater numbers of low-income families.

Children's Achievement and Savings Amounts

There are distinct differences in the achievement of children from families with one or two foreignborn parents. Children from the latter group excel in their studies, while children from the former group have achievement levels that are similar to those of non-immigrant children. Even so, children with two foreign-born parents have less saved for their PSE. In general, children's achievement reinforces parents' commitment of resources, especially when allied with parental aspirations for their PSE and accompanied by support, as evidenced by investments of parental time and non-material resources. Whether undertaken to improve language skills, remediate or enhance learning, tutoring is an additional investment made by many immigrant parents and is positively associated with savings.

It would appear that immigrant parents in both groups want their children to go to PSE, but both face challenges. In families with two foreign-born parents, children have relatively high levels of achievement but their parents' lower incomes and less settled housing arrangements make PSE savings difficult. In families with one foreign-born parent, children's achievement demonstrates less commitment, but their parents' aspirations and wealth are sufficient to motivate and sustain relatively high levels of PSE savings.

Concluding Comment

There are different perspectives on the amount and timing of support for PSE participation. Daniel, Schwarz & Teichler (1999) describe a continuum of views ranging from the child as "citizen" entitled to extensive government support to that which considers the child's PSE to be the sole responsibility of the "family." In between are more moderate positions that offer some measure of support but retain a view of children (and families) as "investors" in their own futures. Whatever the perspective that best describes access to the PSE system in Canada, the family will remain the basis for children's success in finding a pathway to post-secondary studies. While PSE savings are only one avenue for financing PSE, they nevertheless comprise an important component of the intensive parenting mandate that is so strongly advanced by schools and governments (Dehli, 2004). In this context, it is important to acknowledge, and reward, the immigrant family's commitment to preparing for PSE, a process that includes savings as only one of many investments made by parents and children.

Policy Possibilities

Current PSE support schemes assess parents' economic situation and aspirations in order to compute expected costs and decide eligibility. To some extent, this is accomplished by the CESG and the accompanying Learning Bond for low-income families. However, rewarding the joint efforts of family members in PSE planning requires a view of both parents and children as complementary actors. In some cases,

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS 25

children attain good grades without the support of parents. For most, however, parental involvement results in children responding with greater effort and achievement. At present, children's accomplishments are recognized only through the system of PSE grants and bursaries awarded at high school graduation or university and college entry. A government-sponsored PSE savings plan that rewards children's middle school and high school accomplishments as they progress through those grades would make them agents in shaping their own futures. And where parents also contribute during the K–12 period to their children's educational futures, the plan would enable and enhance the synergies of the committed family.

The need to develop alternative means for lowincome students to access funding was argued by Berger (2007). As well, Berger & Motte (2007) pointed out the value of a life-long learning perspective in addressing financial shortfalls. A model for responding to financial need as children and adolescents move through the school system is being tested in the Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation's Future to Discover program, as implemented in New Brunswick. Here, students establish a "learning account" to which the Foundation contributes as the child progresses through school. If shown to be effective and practicable, extending such a program to other deserving families would be relatively straightforward. To the extent that immigrant families of limited means qualify, their children's PSE opportunities would be correspondingly improved.

Future Research Directions

This analysis highlights several directions for future research. Some of the more pressing issues that might be addressed include: immigrant employment income, savings variations among immigrants in relation to ethnicity, and PSE aspirations.

Immigrant employment has been extensively examined in the economic and sociological literature, especially in relation to credential recognition. The general finding that despite relatively high levels of education immigrant incomes have declined may

be reflected in the 22 percent of immigrant families with incomes in the lowest quartile. This certainly translates into a significant number of materially disadvantaged families, but it is not that different from the 19 percent of non-immigrant families who are classified as low income. Also, those families with the highest incomes are immigrants with one foreignborn parent. These differences suggest that the stated consequences of declining immigrant income need to be somewhat qualified by the fact that this situation is shared by many non-immigrant families. A more detailed comparison of how immigrant and non-immigrant families cope with low income and the consequences for planning and investing in their children's future education would be useful.

One of the significant sources of variation among immigrants is ethnicity. As previously indicated, investigation of this area is limited by the available survey data on immigrants. Nevertheless, reports using school administrative data from the three major Canadian metropolises of Toronto, Montreal and Vancouver suggest that country of origin and home language are strong predictors of school performance. The children of certain ethnic groups (1.5- or second-generation immigrants) consistently outperform all other groups, including those who are native born (McAndrew et al., 2005; Anisef et al., 2008).

PSE aspirations are rising in Canada. Families that previously did not consider sending their children to university or college now do so. However much returns to vocational and trades training (e.g., apprenticeships) may have improved in recent years, the PSE pathway retains its appeal among immigrant parents and, to a lesser extent, among non-immigrant parents. Underlying the preparation of children so that they may successfully negotiate the pathway to PSE is a complex set of parenting beliefs and practices. Many of these are driven by the goal of a PSE degree or diploma. It would be important to better understand how PSE aspirations are formed in immigrant families. This would be particularly useful if done in relation to the early school experiences of children that parents share in and help shape. However, children also act as agents. They build human capital through their academic efforts, and their success influences parents' willingness to invest. The interactions between both parent and child in relation to the school experience would inform our understanding of how PSE aspirations are constructed and sustained. This would be even more useful if approached from the perspective of gendered parenting. Girls generally outperform boys in school engagement and achievement, as assessed by classroom indicators. Teacher-assigned

marks tend to incorporate and reflect student social behaviour as well as accomplishment. Classroom adjustment has been attributed in part to gender differences in parents' attempts to socialize their children to the role of student. How immigrant parents relate to boys and girls has been reported in qualitative studies. It would be a useful addition were it to be explored using survey data.

References

Anisef, P., & Kilbride, K. (2003). *Managing Two Worlds: The Experiences and Concerns of Immigrant Youth in Ontario*. Toronto: Canadian Scholars' Press.

Anisef, P., Axelrod, P., Baichman-Anisef, E., James, C., & Turrittin, A. (2000). *Opportunity and Uncertainty: Life Course Experiences of the Class of '73*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

Anisef, P., Brown, R., Phythian, K., Sweet, R., & Walters, D. (2008). *Early School Leaving among Immigrants in Toronto Secondary Schools*. Unpublished paper. Toronto: York University Department of Sociology.

Anisef, P., Frempong, G., & Sweet, R. (2005). "The Effects of Region and Gender on Educational Planning in Canadian Families." In R. Sweet & P. Anisef (Eds.), *Preparing for Post-Secondary Education: New Roles for Governments and Families*, pp. 249–72. Montreal: McGill-Queens University Press.

Anisef, P., & Phythian, K. (2005). *Rising Low-Income Rates and Adaptation of Canadian Immigrant Youth.* Unpublished manuscript. Toronto: York University.

Anisef, P., Sweet, R., & Ng, P. (2004). "Financial Planning for Post-Secondary Education in Canada: A Comparison of Savings Instruments Employed across Aspiration Groups." *NASFAA Journal of Student Financial Aid*, 34 (2): 19–32.

Audas, R., & Willms, J.D. (2001) *Engagement and Dropping Out of School: A Life-Course Perspective*. Ottawa: Applied Research Branch, Strategic Policy, Human Resources and Development Canada.

Barber, B. (1997). "Introduction: Adolescent Socialization in Context—The Role of Connection, Regulation and Autonomy in the Family." *Journal of Adolescent Research* 12: 5-11.

Berger, J. (2007). *A New Kind of Student Aid: Creating, Implementing and Assessing the Millennium Access Bursaries*—*Millennium Research Note* #5. Montreal: Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation.

Berger, J., Motte, A., & Parkin, A. (2007). *The Price of Knowledge: Access and Student Finance in Canada—Third Edition*. Montreal: Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation.

Berger, J., & Motte, A. (2007). "Mind the Access Gap: Breaking Down Barriers to Post-Secondary Education." *Policy Options* November.

Bonikowska, A. (2007). *Explaining the Education Gap Between Children of Immigrants and the Native Born: Allocation of Human Capital Investments in Immigrant Families*. Unpublished manuscript. Vancouver: University of British Columbia.

Bourdieu, P. (1986). "The Forms of Capital." In J. Richardson (Ed.) and R. Nice (Trans.), *Handbook of Theory and Research for the Sociology of Education*, pp. 241–58. New York: Greenwood Press.

Boyd, M., & Kaida, L. (2006). *Generational Shifts in Visible and Non-Visible Minority Poverty Levels: A Comparison of Immigrants and Immigrant Offspring*. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Canadian Sociology and Anthropology Association, May 30 to June 2, Toronto.

Breen, R. (1996). *Regression Models: Censored, Sample Selected or Truncated Data.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Butlin, G. (1999). "Determinants of Post-Secondary Participation." Education Quarterly Review 5 (3): 9-35.

Canadian Council on Learning (2006). Factors Influencing Post-Secondary Enrolment Increases and Decreases. Vancouver: CCL.

—— (2008). Survey of Canadian Attitudes to Learning 2007. Vancouver: CCL.

Chao, R., & Willms, D. (2000). *Family Income, Parenting Practices, and Childhood Vulnerability: A Challenge to the "Culture of Poverty" Thesis*. Policy Brief No. 9, Canadian Research Institute for Social Policy. Fredericton: University of New Brunswick.

Christophides, L., Cirello, J., & Hoy, M. (2001). "Family Income and Post-Secondary Education in Canada." *The Canadian Journal of Higher Education* 31: 177–208.

Clausen, J. (1991). "Adolescent Competence and the Life Course, or Why One Social Psychologist Needed a Concept of Personality." *Social Psychology Quarterly* 54: 4–14.

COMPAS Inc. (2005). *Post-Secondary Education: Cultural, Scholastic and Economic Drivers*. Montreal: Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation.

Corak, M., Lipps, G., & Zhao, J. (2003). *Family Income and Participation in Post-Secondary Education*. Report No. 11F0019MIE. Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada.

Côté, J., & Allahar, A. (2007). Ivory Tower Blues: A University System in Crisis. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

Daniel, H-D., Schwarz, S., & Teichler, U. (1999). "Study Costs, Student Income and Public Policy in Europe." *European Journal of Education* 34 (1): 7–22.

Davies, S. (2004). "School Choice by Default?: Understanding the Demand for Private Tutoring in Canada." *American Journal of Education* 110 (3): 233–55.

—— (2005). "A Revolution of Expectations?: Three Key Trends in the *SAEP* Data." In R. Sweet & P. Anisef (Eds.), *Preparing for Post-Secondary Education: New Roles for Governments and Families*, pp. 149–65. Montreal: McGill-Queens University Press.

Davies, S., & Hammack, F. (2004). "Channelling Competition in Higher Education: Comparing Canada and the U.S." *Journal of Higher Education* 75: 89–107.

De Broucker, P., & Lavallée, L. (2005). "Getting Ahead in Life: Does Your Parents' Education Count?" *Education Quarterly Review* 5 (1): 22–8.

REFERENCES 29

De Broucker, P. (2005). *Getting There and Staying There: Low-Income Students and Post-Secondary Education— A Synthesis of Research Findings*. Ottawa: Canadian Policy Research Networks Report.

Deforges, C., & Abouchaar, A. (2003). *The Impact of Parental Involvement, Parental Support, and Family Education on Pupil Achievement and Adjustment: A Literature Review*. Report No. 433. London, UK: Department of Education and Skills.

De Graaf, N.D., De Graaf, P.M., & Kraaykamp, G. (2000). "Parental Cultural Capital and Educational Attainment in the Netherlands: A Refinement of the Cultural Capital Perspective." *Sociology of Education* 73: 92–111.

Dehli, K. (2004). "Parental Involvement and Neo-Liberal Government: Critical Analysis of Contemporary Education Reforms." *Canadian and International Education* 33 (1): 45–73.

Dinovitzer, R., Hagan, J., & Parker, P. (2003). "Choice and Circumstance: Social Capital and Planful Competence in the Attainments of Immigrant Youth." *Canadian Journal of Sociology* 28: 463–88.

Drolet, M. (2005). *Participation in Post-Secondary Education in Canada: Has the Role of Parental Income and Education Changed Over the 1990s?* Analytical Studies Branch Research Paper Series No. 243. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

Dumais, S. (2005). "Early Childhood Cultural Capital, Parental Habits, and Teachers' Perceptions." Poetics 34: 83–107.

Dyson, L. (2001). "Home-School Communication and Expectations of Recent Chinese Immigrants." *Canadian Journal of Education* 26: 455–76.

EKOS Research Associates Inc. (2006). *Investing in Their Future: A Survey of Student and Parental Support for Learning*. Montreal: Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation.

Farkas, G. (2003). "Cognitive Skills and Noncognitive Traits and Behaviors in Stratification Processes." *American Review of Sociology* 29: 541–62.

Finnie, R., Lascelles, E., & Sweetman, A. (2006). "Who Goes?: The Direct and Indirect Effects of Family Background on Access to Post-Secondary Education." In C. Beach, R. Boadway & M. McInnis (Eds.), *Higher Education in Canada*. Montreal: McGill-Queens University Press.

Finnie, R., Laporte, C., & Lascelles, E. (2004). *Family Background and Access to Post-Secondary Education: What Happened in the 1990s?* Analytical Studies Branch Research Paper Series No. 290. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

Fleury, D. (2007). A Study of Poverty and Working Poverty among Recent Immigrants to Canada. Ottawa: HRSDC.

Frenette, M. (2004). "Access to College and University: Does Distance to School Matter?" *Canadian Public Policy 30* (4): 427–43.

——. (2007). Why are Youth from Lower-Income Families Less Likely to Attend University?: Evidence from Academic Abilities, Parental Influences and Financial Constraints. Report No. 11F0019-295. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

Gladieau, L., & Swail, W. (2000). "Beyond Access: Improving the Odds of College Success." *Phi Delta Kappan* 81: 688–92.

Gunderson, L. (2007). *English-Only Instruction and Immigrant Students in Secondary Schools: A Critical Examination*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

Gymiah, S., Walters, D., & Phythian, K. (2005). "Ethnicity, Immigration and Housing Wealth in Toronto." *Canadian Journal of Urban Research* 14 (2): 338–63.

Hansen, J., & Kucera, M. (2004). *The Educational Attainment of Second-Generation Immigrants in Canada: Evidence from SLID*. Unpublished manuscript. Montreal: Concordia University.

Hatton, C., & Bacic, J. (2001). *Study on Parenting: Issues of Newcomer Families in Ontario—Report on Literature Review and Bibliography*. Toronto: Joint Centre of Excellence for Research on Immigration and Settlement.

Hays, S. (1996). The Cultural Contradictions of Motherhood. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.

Hemingway, D., & McMullen, C. (2004). *A Family Affair: The Impact of Paying for College or University*. Montreal: Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation

Hiebert, D. (1998). *Immigrant Experiences in Greater Vancouver: Focus Group Narratives*. Vancouver: Research on Immigration and Integration in the Metropolis.

Hoover-Dempsey, K., & Sandler, H. (1997). "Why Do Parents Become Involved in Their Children's Education?" *Review of Educational Research* 67: 3–42.

Junor, S., & Usher, A. (2004). *The Price of Knowledge: Access and Student Finance in Canada*. Montreal: Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation.

Kao, G., & Tienda, M. (1995). "Optimism and Achievement: The Educational Performance of Immigrant Youth." *Social Science Quarterly* 76 (1): 1–19.

Kapsalis, C. (2006). "Who Gets Student Loans?" Perspectives 18 (4).

Knighton, T., & Mirza, S. (2002). "Post-Secondary Participation: The Effects of Parents' Education and Household Income." *Education Quarterly Review* 8 (3): 25–32.

Krahn, H., & Taylor, A. (2005). *Resilient Teenagers: Explaining the Higher Educational Aspirations of Visible Minority Immigrant Youth in Canada*. PCERII working paper series No. WWP02-05. Edmonton: University of Alberta.

Kralovec, E., & Buell, J. (2000). *The End of Homework: How Homework Disrupts Families, Overburdens Children, and Limits Learning*. Boston: Beacon Press.

Kwak, K. (2003). "Adolescents and Their Parents: A Review of Intergenerational Family Relations for Immigrant and Non-Immigrant Families." *Human Development* 46: 115–36.

Lareau, A. (2003). Unequal Childhoods: Class, Race, and Family Life. Los Angeles: University of California Press.

Lareau, A., & Weininger, E. (2003). "Cultural Capital in Educational Research: A Critical Assessment." *Theory and Society* 32: 567–606.

REFERENCES 31

Lefebvre, S. (2004). "Saving for Post-Secondary Education." Perspectives: On Labour and Income 5 (7): 5-12.

Lehmann, W. (2007). *Choosing to Labour?: School-Work Transitions and Social Class*. Montreal: McGill-Queens University Press.

Li, J. (2003). "Affordances and Constraints of Immigrant Chinese Parental Expectations on Children's School Performances." *The Alberta Journal of Educational Research* 49: 198–200.

Looker, D. (1994). "Active Capital: The Impact of Parents on Youth's Educational Performance and Plans." In L. Erwin & D. MacLennan (Eds.), *Sociology of Education in Canada*, pp. 164–87. Toronto: Copp-Clark Longman.

Looker, D., & Lowe, G. (2001). *Post-Secondary Access and Student Financial Aid in Canada: Current Knowledge and Research Gaps*. Ottawa: Canadian Policy Research Networks.

Looker, D., & Thiessen, V. (2004). *Aspirations of Canadian Youth for Higher Education: Final Report.* SP-600-05-04E. Ottawa: HRSDC.

Louie, V. (2001). "Parents' Aspirations and Investment: The Role of Social Class in the Educational Experiences of 1.5- and Second-Generation Chinese Americans." *Harvard Educational Review* 71: 438–74.

Ma, X. (2003). "Measuring Up: Academic Performance of Canadian Immigrant Children in Reading, Mathematics, and Science." *Journal of International Migration and Integration* 4 (4): 541–76.

Mandell, N., & Sweet, R. (2004). "Homework as Homework: Reproducing Class through Women's Unpaid Labour." *Atlantis* 28: 7–18.

Marks, G.N. (2005). "Accounting for Immigrant and Non-Immigrant Differences in Reading and Mathematics in Twenty Countries." *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 28 (5): 925–46.

McAndrew, M., Anisef, P., Blais, J.-G., Ungerleider, C., & Sweet, R. (2005). "Performance et cheminement scolaires des jeunes d'origine immigrée au Canada: apport actuel et utilisation des banques de données provinciales." Research Note. Montreal: *Cahiers québécois de démographie*.

McMullen, K. (2004). "Children of Immigrants: How Well Do They Do in School?" *Education Matters: Insights on Education, Learning and Training in Canada* 4 (www.statcan.ca/english/freepub/81-004-XIE/200410/immi.htm#f).

Milligan, K. (2002). "Tax Preferences for Education Savings: Are RESPs Effective?" C.D. Howe Institute Commentary 174.

——. (2005). "Who Uses RESP and Why." In C.M. Beach, R.W. Boadway & R.M. McInnis (Eds.), *Higher Education in Canada*, pp. 467–94. Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press.

Morrow, V. (1999). "Conceptualising Social Capital in Relation to the Well-Being of Children and Young People: A Critical Review." *The Sociological Review* 47: 744–65.

Moses, B. (2006). *Dish: Midlife Women Tell the Truth about Work, Relationships, and the Rest of Life.* Toronto: McLelland & Stewart.

Mueller, R. (2007). *Access and Persistence of Students from Low-Income Backgrounds in Canadian Post-Secondary Education: A Review of the Literature*. Unpublished paper. Montreal: Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation.

Okagaki, L. (2001). "Parental Beliefs, Parenting Style, and Children's Intellectual Development." In E. Grigorenko & R. Sternberg (Eds.), *Family Environment and Intellectual Functioning: A Life-Span Perspective*, pp. 141–72. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

Ouellette, S. (2006). *How Students Fund Their Post-Secondary Education: Findings from the Post-Secondary Education Participation Survey.* Catalogue No. 81-595-MIE2006042. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

Picot, G., Hou, F., & Coulombe, S. (2007). *Chronic Low Income and Low-Income Dynamics among Recent Immigrants*. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

Picot, G., & Sweetman, A. (2005). *The Deteriorating Welfare of Immigrants and Possible Causes: Update 2005*. 11F0019MIE No. 262. Ottawa: Statistics Canada, Business and Labour Market Division.

Plank, S., & Jordan, W. (2001). "Effects of Information, Guidance, and Actions on Post-Secondary Destinations: A Study of Talent Loss." *American Educational Research Journal* 38: 947–79.

Pomerantz, E., Moorman, E., & Litwack, S. (2007). "The How, Whom, and Why of Parents' Involvement in Children's Academic Lives: More is Not Always Better." *Review of Educational Research* 77 (3): 373–410.

Pong, S-L., Hao, L., & Gardner, E. (2005). "The Roles of Parenting Style and Social Capital in the School Performance of Immigrant Asian and Hispanic Adolescents." *Social Science Quarterly* 86 (4): 928–50.

Rahman, A., Situ, J., & Jimmo, V. (2005). *Participation in Post-Secondary Education: Evidence from the Survey of Labour Income Dynamics*. CESR Research Paper No. 36. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

Raymond, M., & Rivard, M. (2003). *Have Tuition Fee Hikes in the Late 1990s Undermined Access to Post-Secondary Education in Canada?* Unpublished paper. Ottawa: Economic Studies and Policy Analysis Branch, Department of Finance.

Reay, D. (1998). Class Work: Mother's Involvement in Their Children's Primary Schooling. London: University of London Press.

—— (2000). "A Useful Extension of Bourdieu's Conceptual Framework?: Emotional Capital as a Way of Understanding Mothers' Involvement in Their Children's Education." *The Sociological Review* 48 (4): 568–85.

Rounce, A. (2004). *Access to Post-Secondary Education: Does Class Still Matter?* Saskatoon: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives, Saskatchewan.

Shamsuddin, A., & DeVoretz, D. (1998). "Wealth Accumulation of Canadian and Foreign-Born Households in Canada." *Review of Income and Wealth* 44 (4): 515–33.

Schuetze, H., & Sweet, R. (2003). *Integrating School and Workplace Learning in Canada*. Montreal: McGill-Queens University Press.

REFERENCES 33

Shipley, L., Ouellette, S., & Cartwright, F. (2003). *Planning and Preparation: First Results from the Survey of Approaches to Educational Planning 2002*. Catalogue No. 81-595-MIE2003010. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

Spera, C. (2005). "A Review of the Relationship among Parenting Practices, Parenting Styles, and Adolescent School Achievement." *Educational Psychology Review* 17: 125–46.

Statistics Canada (2001). Survey of Approaches to Educational Planning. The Daily, April 10.

——— (2005). *A Portrait of Early Settlement Experiences*. Catalogue No. 89-614-XWE2005001. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

Steinberg, L. (1996). *Beyond the Classroom: Why School Reform Has Failed and What Parents Need to Do.* New York: Simon & Schuster.

Sweet, R., Mandell, N., Anisef, P., & Adamuti-Trache, M. (2007). *Managing the Home Learning Environment: Parents, Adolescents and the "Homework Problem."* Final Report. Vancouver: Canadian Council on Learning.

Sweet, R. (2005). *Educational Plans and Parenting Practices in Immigrant and Non-Immigrant Families*. Paper presented at the International Metropolis Conference, Toronto.

Sweet, R., & Anisef, P. (Eds.) (2005). *Preparing for Post-Secondary Education: New Roles for Families and Governments*. Montreal: McGill-Queens University Press.

Tandem/Council of Ministers of Education, Canada (2007). *Literature Review of Post-Secondary Education Affordability in Canada*. Toronto: CMEC.

Thiessen, V., & Looker, D. (2005). "Distributing Scarce Resources: Parental Involvement in Their Children's Post-Secondary Education." In R. Sweet & P. Anisef (Eds.), *Preparing for Post-Secondary Education: New Roles for Governments and Families*, pp. 249–72. Montreal: McGill-Queens University Press.

Weininger, E., & Lareau, A. (2003). "Translating Bourdieu into the American Context: The Question of Social Class and Family-School Relations." *Poetics* 31: 375–402.

White, J., Marshall, S., & Wood, J. (2005). "Family Structure, Child Well-Being, and Post-Secondary Saving: The Effect of Social Capital on the Child's Acquisition of Human Capital." In R. Sweet & P. Anisef (Eds.), *Preparing for Post-Secondary Education: New Roles for Governments and Families*, pp. 222–48. Montreal: McGill-Queens University Press.

Worswick, C. (2004). "Adaptation and Inequality: Children of Immigrants in Canadian Schools." *The Canadian Journal of Economics* 37 (1): 153–77.

Appendix

Tables A1 and A2 present a more detailed view of the savings of respondents in the research sample (savers and non-savers) and savers alone. The proportion of savers is highest among families in which one parent is foreign born (58 percent). This group also has the greatest amount of savings—both mean and median values are considerably higher than in those families with two foreign-born parents or in the reference non-immigrant group (i.e., families with no foreign-born parents). Families in which both parents are foreign born have a lower savings ceiling than the other groups. The variability in savings is noted in all groups. Lefebvre (2004) compared "immigrant" and "non-immigrant" groups and similarly observed considerable variability. Our average savings figures are nevertheless generally consistent with her analysis.

Table A1 — Savings Profile of Respondents in Sample (N = 5,580)

]	Immigrant Status of Parent	ts
Distribution Characteristics	Both Foreign Born	One Foreign Born	Neither Foreign Born
Mean (SD)	5,627.70 (10,137.20)	6,605.14 (11,390.44)	5,064.20 (9,577.51)
Range (min. – max.)	0.00 - 63,000.00	0.00 - 95,000.00	0.00 - 92,000.00
Proportion Saving (n, %)	244 (53)	290 (58)	2,355 (51)
N	460	504	4,616

Source: Survey of Approaches to Educational Planning Note: The median is omitted as it has no meaning when non-savers are included.

Table A2 — Savings Profile of Active Savers (N = 2,889)

		Immigrant Status of Parent	es .
Distribution Characteristics	Both Foreign Born	One Foreign Born	Neither Foreign Born
Mean (SD)	10,609 (11,875.79)	11,479.27 (13,025.70)	9,926.26 (11,469.57)
Median	6,050.00	7,750.00	6,000.00
Range (min. – max.)	100.00 - 63,000.00	100.00 - 95,000.00	65.00 - 92,000.00
N	244	290	2,355

Source: Survey of Approaches to Educational Planning